# RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 04-25-2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT III

Appeal No. 2017AP000185 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff- Respondent,

#### **RONALD LEE BARIC,**

Defendant- Appellant.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT – APPELLANT

# APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR OUTAGAMIE COUNTY THE HONORABLE JOHN A. DES JARDINS PRESIDING

JOHN MILLER CARROLL LAW OFFICE Attorney for Defendant – Appellant

> John Miller Carroll State Bar. No. 1010478

226 S. State St. Appleton WI 54911 (920) 734-4878

#

#### ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Was the warrantless multijurisdictional search conducted by Officer Kowalski entitled to Fourth Amendment Protection?

Trial Court: Found there was no search

The Appellant answers: Yes

Did the Trial Court commit clear error by relying exclusively on persuasive precedent from another District rather than binding law in his jurisdiction?

Trial Court: No

The Appellant answers: Yes

Was the interrogation of Ronald Baric the product of Coercion?

Trial Court: No

The Appellant answers: Yes

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is requested due to the complexity of the issues, the vastness of the topics application and the evolving nature of the law so that both parties can verbally illustrate their interpretations of law as they apply to the facts of this case. Publication is suggested in order to give further guidance to the bench and bar in this state as to the lawful use of a computer and monitoring software to conduct warrantless searches.

#### STATEMENT OF CASE

On January 22 2016, the Appellant Ronald Baric, and his counsel were present in Outagamie County Circuit Court for a Motion hearing challenging admissibility of statements allegedly made by the Defendant. (R. 58) similarly, on June 22, 2016 the Appellant and Counsel were present in Outagamie County Circuit Court for a Motion hearing challenging the admissibility of fruits of an unlawful search. (R. 59) The Defendant in its motion argued that a warrantless search of Ronald Baric had occurred prior to the application of a search warrant. (R. 59) The Defendant through counsel argued that the fruits of the warrantless search were the sole basis for granting a warrant, that the affidavit in support contained misstatements of fact, and that the Conduct of Officer Kowalski by using specialty software and servers outside his jurisdiction and state was tantamount to using sense enhancing devices to discover content within the home. (R. 59) (R. 32: 6-11) On April 6<sup>th</sup> 2016 an Order was entered denying the Defendant Appellants motion to suppress statements. (R. 21) and on June 22 2016, the Appellants motion to suppress fruits of the unlawful search was denied. (R. 59) On August 22, 2016 the Appellant entered a plea of no contest to two counts of Possession of Child Pornography under

Wisconsin Statute §948.12(1m) and was sentenced on October 7<sup>th</sup>, 2016. This Appeal follows.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS:

On October 14<sup>th</sup>, Detective Kowalseki used computer and computer software to conduct a search outside of his jurisdiction. (R 59-14) This search used a Computer Server in Florida and software not available to the public to conduct a national search. (R. 59: 1-17) Detective Kowalski conducted multiple searches prior to obtaining the Appellants information (R. 59: 1-17) (R. 32 6-11) First Detective Kowalski used specialty software to access a CPS sever in Florida that was not Publically available (R. 59: 10-14) (R. 32 6-11) The software on these servers monitor the files automatically stored on personal computers using various torrent networks. (R. 59-14) The CPS software then examines the files to compare them to a control (R. 59-14) this is a nationwide search that might exceed the United States. (R. 59-14) After the specialty software is deployed through a private server in Boca Raton Florida it sifts files on another network to identify specific files for content. (R. 59-14) After finding a suspect file the software then compares the suspect files properties to a control, this is done using the not publically available software. (R. 59: 9-14) Next the specialty software then geo-locates the suspect file to the state of Wisconsin. (R. 59-9). This entire search is being conducted by an Officer of Shawano County who was deputized to conduct these searches subject to the limitation that he works with a FBI agent (R. 59-10) There was not a joint effort in this search with the FBI. (R. 59: 9-10) After conducting this massive search Officer Kowalski completed an Affidavit for a warrant. (R. 32 6-11) The Affidavit contains material misrepresentations of fact in that it states on its face the program used is available to the public. (R. 32 6-11) The warrant was issued.

3

Next, On Thursday, February 19<sup>th</sup>, 2015 Special Agents from the Wisconsin Department of Justice travelled to a residence located at N2787 State Highway 15, Hortonville, Outagamie County, Wisconsin. (R. 20- 1) Special Agent parked outside the home watching for an opportunity to come inside (R. 20: 1-5) The 5 Agents parked outside notice an elderly man taking out the trash. (R. 20: 1-25) At this time there was a Birthday Party occurring at the residence (R. 20-1) After Special agents attain access to the home, Special Agent Roffers requested to speak with the Appellant. (R. 20: 1-5) After the initial interrogation of the Appellant he was asked for consent to search his laptop. (R. 20: 1-25) Baric refused to consent to the warrantless search multiple times. (R. 20: 1-25) eventually after several extensive compelling conversations consent was attained. (R. 20: 1-35)

#### AUTHORITY

#### WARRANTLESS SEARCHES DEPLOYING SENSE ENHANCING DEVICES ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL

1. Warrantless searches are per se unreasonable unless the state can establish that the search fell within one of the recognized exceptions. *See* Wis. Stat. §§968.10, 968.11, 968.25; *see also Schneckloth v. Bustamonts, 412 U.S. 218 (1973); State v. Denk, 2008* WI 130, ¶ 36, 315 Wis. 2d 5, 759 N.W.2d 775; *State v Kieffer, 217* Wis. 2d 531, 541, 577 N.W.2d 352(1998)

2. When the challenged search or seizure was not authorized by a warrant, the state has the burden to show that the action was justified under an exception to the warrant requirement. *See, e.g., State v. Matejka,* 2001 WI 5, ¶ 17, 241 Wis. 2d 52, 62<sup>1</sup> N.W.2d 891.

3. The general burden of proof on suppression issues is a preponderance of the evidence. *See, e.g. State v. Raflik,* 2001 WI 129, ¶¶53-55, 248 Wis. 2d 593, 636 N.W. 2d 690. The Wisconsin Supreme Court has stated, however, that the states burden is showing that an exception to the warrant requirement applies, is the higher clear-and-convincing standard. *Matejka,* 2001 WI 5, ¶ 17, 241 Wis. 2d 52.

4. The U.S. Supreme Court has interpreted the Fourth Amendment to

protect against non-physical searches of the home. *See* Kyllo v. United States, 533 U.S. 27,40 (2001) (holding that the use of a device to gain information about the interior of a home, even absent a physical intrusion into the home, was a search)

5. In Kyllo V. United States, the U.S. Supreme Court held that the use of an infrared thermal sensor to detect heat being emitted from the defendant's home was an unreasonable search that required a warrant. The sense enhancing device that was used by the officers in Kyllo was capable of detecting both legal and illegal activity within the home, leading the Court to hold that all activity within the home, no matter how trivial, should be protected from government intrusion absent a warrant. *Id* 

6. The Court held that the use of "sense-enhancing technology" that is not in use by the public and is able to gather information about activity within the home that, absent the technology, could not be gathered without entering the home, **Constitutes a search of the home within the scope of the 4**<sup>th</sup> **Amendment.** *Id at 34, 40 (majority opinion); see* April A. Otterberg, GPS tracking Technology; The case for revisiting knots and shifting the Supreme Courts Theory of the Public Space Under the Fourt Amendment, 46 B.C. L. REV. 661, 693 (2005) (discussing the Kyllos Courts development of this new test.)

#### Coercion of Statements

1. Warrantless searches are per se unreasonable unless the state can establish that the search fell within one of the recognized exceptions. *See* Wis. Stat. §§968.10, 968.11, 968.25; *see also Schneckloth v. Bustamonts, 412 U.S. 218 (1973); State v. Denk, 2008* WI 130, ¶ 36, 315 Wis. 2d 5, 759 N.W.2d 775; *State v Kieffer, 217* Wis. 2d 531, 541, 577 N.W.2d 352(1998)

2. When the challenged search or seizure was not authorized by a warrant, the state has the burden to show that the action was justified under an exception to the warrant requirement. *See, e.g., State v. Matejka,* 2001 WI 5, ¶ 17, 241 Wis. 2d 52, 62<sup>1</sup> N.W.2d 891.

3. The general burden of proof on suppression issues is a preponderance of the evidence. *See, e.g. State v. Raflik,* 2001 WI 129, ¶¶53-55, 248 Wis. 2d 593, 636 N.W. 2d 690. The Wisconsin Supreme Court has stated, however, that the states burden is showing that an exception to the warrant requirement applies, is the higher clear-and-convincing standard. *Matejka,* 2001 WI 5, ¶ 17, 241 Wis. 2d 52.

4. A seizure has occurred when a person complies with a show of

police authority, under circumstances in which a reasonable person would not have felt that he or she was free to leave or ti disregard a police request. *See, e.g., California v. Hodari D.*, 499 U.S. 621, 627-28 (1991); *State v. Young,* 2006 WI 98, ¶ 26, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 729; *State v. Williams, 2002 WI 94,* ¶ 23, 255 Wis. 2d 1, 646 N.W.2d 834.

5. Thus, a police officer may approach a person and ask questions, as long as a reasonable person would feel free to decline to answer. *United States v. Drayton,* 536 U.S. 194, 203-04 (2002); *Williams,* 2002 WI 94, ¶ 22, 255 Wis. 2d 1.

6. If a reasonable person would not have felt that he or she could disregard the police request, the defense may argue that the consent was tainted by the excessive length of detention. *See State v. Luebeck*, 2006 WI app 87, ¶¶ 15-16, 292 Wis. 2d 748, 715 N.W.2d 639.

7. Where a defendant raises a voluntariness challenge, the State must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the statement of consent given made by the defendant was voluntary. *Jerrell C.J.,I 283 Wis.2d 145, 699 N.W.2d 110.* 

8. Voluntariness is a factual question based on the "totality of the circumstances". *State v. Phillips*, 218 Wis. 2d 180 (1980)

9. The consenting parties knowledge that he has the right to refuse consent is *highly relevant* but is not controlling. *U.S. v. Mendenhall*, 100 S.Ct 1870, 1879 (1980)

10. "A defendants statements are voluntary if they are the product of a free and unconstrained will, reflecting deliberateness of choice, as opposed to the result of a conspicuously unequal confrontation in which the pressures brought to bear on the defendant by representatives of the State exceed the defendants ability to resist." *State v. Hoppe*, 2003 WI 43, 261 Wis.2d 294, 661 N.W.2d 407

11. Evidence that may be suppressed includes physical evidence and statements obtained as a result of the arrest. *See, e.g., State v. Anderson,* 165 Wis. 2d 441, 477 N.W.2d 277(1991); *Nadolinski v. State,* 46 Wis. 2d 259, 174 N.W.2d 482 (1970).

#### ARGUMENT

# The Shawano County search of information contained on Baric's computer violated his 4<sup>th</sup> Amendment rights against Warrantless Searches and Seizures.

7. The Search of Ronald Barics Internet Activity and Monitoring of his personal browsing activity via means of invasive computer forensics constituted a search.

8. Using the Sense enhancing device of a computer and software specifically targeted and deployed for the purpose of locating a computer inside the home as well as to monitor the websites and content that an individual visits qualifies under the Kyllo Courts interpretation as a search using a "sense enhancing device:"

9. The Kyllo Court also commented on the use of a thermal imaging device to see the contents within the home.

10. In Kyllo V. United States, the U.S. Supreme Court held that the use of an infrared thermal sensor to detect heat being emitted from the defendant's home was an unreasonable search that required a warrant. The sense enhancing device that was used by the officers in Kyllo was capable of detecting both legal and illegal activity within the home, leading the Court to hold that all activity within the home, no matter how trivial, should be protected from government intrusion absent a warrant. *Id* 

11. The search deployed by the Shawano County Sheriff's office used sense enhancing devices in the form of a computer, two servers and police software to effectively search via the tor network and various servers for content located on a personal computer within a home protected by the  $4^{th}$  amendment. (R. 59)

12. Without the use of these Sense Enhancing devices to monitor and search for conduct being carried out within the home these officers would not have been capable of detecting nor following the Defendants internet activity. They would not have been capable of ascertaining known files on the Defendants computer. (R. 59)

13. On October 14<sup>th</sup>, 2014 Detective Gordon Kowaleski of the **SHAWANO COUNTY SHERIFFS DEPARTMENT**, conducted a search, outside of his jurisdiction using sense enhancing devices to intrude into the home and personal effects of Ronald Baric, without a warrant. *Exhibit One to* 

Defendants Motion To Suppress date June 17<sup>th</sup>, 2016, Affidavit of Gordon Kowaleski (R 32-6)

14. This search intruded into the home and the personal effects of many residents throughout the state. (R. 59-14) "Q is it nationwide, do you know, A My understanding is yes", (R. 59: 11,12) "I think to better explain to, when somebody runs eMule and they download the program, when, files are created - - or folders are created by default. The incoming folder and attempt folder as that person does searches or downloads files of any nature, the files come in in chunks. The chunks are stored initially in the temp folder (NOTE: this is the same folder that was created on the user's computer by downloading and running the software) When the file is complete, it gets moved to the incoming folder. (another folder that is created by default on the user's computer) As you build files as a user of the eMule, the software reports the hash values and file names up the eMule servers. When I as a user go to do a search the server will say this person, this person, or however many people have the file you are looking for and will hand me off to the individual peer. And then I as a user download from there."

15. On October 14<sup>th</sup>, Detective Kowalseki used computer and computer software to conduct a search outside of his jurisdiction. (R 59-14)

16. On October 14<sup>th</sup>, Detective Kowalseki used a computer and computer software to locate, follow and electronically enter the home of Ronald Baric. (R. 59) (R. 32-6) *Exhibit One to Defendants Motion To Suppress date June 17<sup>th</sup>*, 2016, Affidavit of Gordon Kowaleski

17. From 4:24 GMT to 13:46, nearly twelve hours, investigators from **SHAWANO COUNTY** used sense enhancing tools and methods to intrude into the home and personal effects of the Defendant Ronald Baric. Who is a resident of Outagamie County. (R. 32-6) *Affidavit of Gordon Kowaleski* 

18. In deploying a search using the Gneuttela network investigator Kowaleski was able to search computers throughout the **STATE OF WISCONSIN** for specific information. (R. 32 -6) (R. 59 11-12)

19. Specifically, Dectective Kowaleski used a computer and <u>software</u> <u>not available to the public</u> to enhance his ability to search through material online throughout entire state of Wisconsin for specific information. (R. 59 8-9)

20. Detective Kowaleski testified on June 22, 2016 that the software he used to search and find Baric through searching his files "is not publically

available". See June 22<sup>nd</sup> 2016 transcript page 8-9. (R. 59 8-9)

21. This is inconsistent with the affidavit submitted to the Court in applying for the very warrant that was at issue that represents: "this Detective could then use **publicly available** software to request a list of internet network computers..." (R. 32 6-11) Affidavit of Kowalski

22. "The Court held that the use of "sense-enhancing technology" that is not in use by the public and is able to gather information about activity within the home that, absent the technology, could not be gathered without entering the home, **Constitutes a search of the home within the scope of the 4**<sup>th</sup> **Amendment.**" *See* Kyllo v. United States, 533 U.S. 27,40 (2001); see April A. Otterberg, GPS tracking Technology; The case for revisiting knots and shifting the Supreme Courts Theory of the Public Space Under the Fourt Amendment, 46 B.C. L. REV. 661, 693 (2005) (discussing the Kyllos Courts development of this new test.)

23. Detective Kowaleski used specialized tools to obtain files from a server and subsequently the computer contained within the home of Ronald Baric. (R. 59) (R. 32 6-11)

24. Besides downplaying the fact that two searches occurred before obtaining an IP or applying for a warrant the Affidavit of Detective Kowaleski is completely inconsistent with his testimony under oath that the software deployed was not publically available. (R. 59) (R. 32 6-11)

"Q Earlier today you mentioned the term "my software" when you were referencing how you were plugging in hashtag values to find contraband images or certain key terms. What is the software that you've been using?

A CPS, Child Protective Services - - or Child Protective System. Im sorry

Q Is that something that is produced just for your agency?

A No.

Q Is that something that is publically available?

A No." – (R. 59 8-9)

25. Ronald Baric resided at the time of this Shawano County Case in Outagamie County. (R. 59)

26. The search of Kowaleski a Shawano County Offcier, included the use of specialty software to intrude into the home of Ronald Baric, to gain access to files stored physically on Baric's computer and to copy files from within his home. (R. 59) (R. 32 6-11)

27. At the close of testimony Counsel for the Defendant moved for an opportunity to brief the issues that were developed on the record. The Court denied the request and then moved to opine without allowing argument from eitherside. (R. 59- 16)

28. Factually the Court in denying the Defendants motion found that there is no search. (R 59-17)

29. What Defense wished to brief and what the Court failed to consider was that in order to find the IP address two searches using sense enhancing devices had already taken place.

30. The process looks like this:

1. Without a warrant or applying for one an officer acting beyond his jurisdiction used specially designed, not publically available software and servers (sense enhancing devices) to go online and "look for people on various peer-to-peer networks that are offering to distribute or have available for distribution files with those hash tag values" (R. 59-9; 10-15)

2. These files would be contained on a personal computer and are only identified after the officer has searched online using specialty software and servers to find a file contained on a personal computer. "So is it possible that you would get a report *from your software* for a partial file either *being stored or downloaded on somebodys computer*? A. Correct" (R. 59-12)

3. After the sifting of thousands of personal computers for the presence of a specific file to obtain information pertaining to the crime a second search begins.

4. Now that the Officer has acquired the file from the personal computer they have what they need to begin the second search. After the suspect file is found its hashtags (digital signatures) are cross referenced against a list of known hashtags that the FBI has acquired.

5. After the file is located using specialty software and cross checked against known hashtags the second warrantless search beings.

6. The second warrantless search uses the IP address obtained by stiffing for files subsequently comparing the contents of those files.

"So I am going into the servers for CPS, which the servers for CPS are

going in the servers for emule" - (R. 59-11)

"CPS has its own servers that check the networks, such as Gnutella or ED 2k, eDonkey 2000 Network, which emule typically runs or possibly the K.A.T. network" – (R. 59-11).

Dectective Kolwaski goes on to describe the locations of files on personal computers and how they are accessed, sifted and compared using the CPS software.

"I think to better explain it, when somebody runs emule and they download the program, files are created- - or folders are created by default" (R 59-11)

This sentence is describing how when a personal computer user downloads the emule software (which is used to share legal files as well) the downloaded program automatically creates local files on the Personal Computer that are accessible by search to the emule network.

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