RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **06-22-2017**

COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2017AP185-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

RONALD LEE BARIC,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDERS DENYING MOTIONS TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE, ENTERED IN THE OUTAGAMIE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JOHN A. DES JARDINS, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

SCOTT E. ROSENOW Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1083736

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. Detective Kowaleski lawfully found child pornography that Baric had made available for Internet users to download on a file-sharing network. Baric had no property interest in the file-sharing network and had no right to prevent others from seeing the pornography that he was offering for download. He thus had no reasonable expectation of privacy in that pornography. Courts around the country have uniformly reached this conclusion in similar cases.

II. Baric freely consented to allow special agents to search his computer devices. The agents had a congenial and honest talk with Baric at his home, and his relatives were present until he asked to speak with the agents privately. The agents did not threaten, intimidate, or punish Baric. They told Baric several times that he could refuse to allow them to search his computer. Baric was highly educated and very knowledgeable about computers.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing a decision on a motion to suppress evidence, this Court upholds the circuit court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous, but it independently applies constitutional principles to the facts. *State v. Lonkoski*, 2013 WI 30, ¶ 21, 346 Wis. 2d 523, 828 N.W.2d 552.

ARGUMENT

I. A detective lawfully found child pornography that Baric was offering for download on a filesharing network because Baric had no reasonable expectation of privacy.

A. Controlling legal principles.

The Fourth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution "generally requires police to secure a warrant before conducting a search." *State v. Marquardt*, 2001 WI App 219, ¶ 30, 247 Wis. 2d 765, 635 N.W.2d 188 (citation omitted). "In order for the Fourth Amendment's warrant requirement to apply, the defendant must first have a reasonable expectation of privacy in the property or location." *State v. Guard*, 2012 WI App 8, ¶ 16, 338 Wis. 2d 385, 808 N.W.2d 718 (citation omitted).

For a defendant to show that he had a reasonable expectation of privacy, he must show that he had a subjective expectation of privacy and that "society is prepared to recognize [the expectation] as legitimate." *State v. Yakes*, 226 Wis. 2d 425, 430, 595 N.W.2d 108 (Ct. App. 1999) (citation omitted). "In other words, the defendant must show that he or she had a subjective expectation of privacy that was objectively reasonable." *Id.* (citation omitted). The defendant must show both prongs by a preponderance of the evidence. *Guard*, 338 Wis. 2d 385, ¶ 17.

Under the reasonableness prong, a court considers the totality of the circumstances. State v. Tentoni, 2015 WI App 77, ¶ 7, 365 Wis. 2d 211, 871 N.W.2d 285, review denied, 2016 WI 16, 367 Wis. 2d 127, 876 N.W.2d 512. Several factors may guide the reasonableness analysis: (1) "Whether the person had a property interest in the premises," (2) "Whether the person was legitimately on the premises," (3) "Whether the person had complete dominion and control and the right to exclude others," (4) "Whether the person took precautions customarily taken by those seeking privacy," (5) "Whether the person put the property to some private use," and (6) "Whether the claim of privacy is consistent with historical notions of privacy." Id. (citation omitted). "These factors are not controlling, and the list is not exclusive." *Id.* (citation omitted). This test can apply to digital content. *Id*. ¶ 7 n.3.

B. The circuit court correctly held that Baric had no reasonable expectation of privacy when using a file-sharing network.

Under the first prong of the test, Baric has not shown by a preponderance of the evidence that he had a subjective expectation of privacy when he used a file-sharing network, nor can he. Detective Kowaleski found that a computer with Baric's IP address was using "eMule" peer-to-peer software to share or offer to share ten files of child pornography on a file-sharing network called "eDonkey." (R. 32:7, 9; 59:5, 12.) Computers on a file-sharing network have peer-to-peer software installed on them. (R. 32:5, 9.) This software allows people to share files with other "users around the world." (R. 32:5.) The "whole purpose" of using this kind of software is to share files. (R. 59:13.) The eMule software does not allow a user to keep his or her files private, and it warns the user that the files he or she downloads are shared. (R. 59:13.) The detective did not search Baric's hard drive or computer. (R. 59:7, 13.) He merely viewed the files that Baric's computer had available for sharing. (R. 32:7–9.) Under these facts, Baric did not have a subjective expectation of privacy in files that he was offering to share with people around the world.

Under the second prong of the test, Baric has not shown by a preponderance of the evidence that he had a reasonable expectation of privacy, nor can he. He did not have a property interest in the file-sharing network that he was using. He was unable to prevent law enforcement officers or anyone else from viewing the files that he offered to share. He did not put his child pornography to solely private use but instead offered to share it with people around the world. And society would not see a legitimate expectation of privacy here. "[F]ree people" do not expect a harmful communication to remain private. See State v. Duchow, 2008 WI 57, ¶ 34, 310 Wis. 2d 1, 749 N.W.2d 913 (finding no reasonable expectation of privacy in a threat to harm someone). "The serious harms associated with the distribution of child pornography are well known." State v. Bowser, 2009 WI App 114, ¶ 16, 321 Wis. 2d 221, 772 N.W.2d 666 (citations omitted). Child pornography has historically been illegal because of its harm to children. See United States v. Stevens, 559 U.S. 460, 471 (2010). Its harm has only increased with the recent ability to share child pornography on the Internet. *Bowser*, 321 Wis. 2d 221, ¶ 16.

Baric thus did not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in the child pornography that he was publicly offering to share on the Internet.

Tentoni is instructive. In Tentoni, a police officer responded to a call about a death and found the victim's body. Tentoni, 365 Wis. 2d 211, \P 2. He searched the victim's cell phone and found text messages between the victim and Tentoni, which implicated Tentoni in the death. Id. \P 3. This Court concluded that Tentoni had no reasonable expectation of privacy in the text messages on the victim's phone. Id. \P 8. It noted that Tentoni did not have a property interest in the victim's phone. Id. And the "key" factors were that Tentoni had no control over what happened to the text messages after he sent them and that he lacked a right to exclude others from reading them. Id. \P 11.

Here, similarly, Baric had no reasonable expectation of privacy. Like Tentoni's lack of a property interest in the victim's phone, Baric had no property interest in the file-sharing network that he was using. And the same two key factors are present here. Baric had no control over what happened to the child pornography once he offered it for download on a file-sharing network, and he had no right to exclude anyone from accessing the network and viewing the files that he was offering to share.

Indeed, courts in other jurisdictions would conclude that Detective Kowaleski did not violate Baric's Fourth Amendment rights. In child-pornography cases, state and federal courts around the country have held that a person has no reasonable expectation of privacy in peer-to-peer file sharing. *United States v. Hill*, 750 F.3d 982, 986 (8th Cir. 2014); *United States v. Conner*, 521 F. App'x 493, 497–98 (6th Cir. 2013); *United States v. Norman*, 448 F. App'x 895, 897 (11th Cir. 2011) (per curiam); *United States v. Borowy*, 595 F.3d 1045, 1047–48 (9th Cir. 2010) (per curiam); *United*

States v. Perrine, 518 F.3d 1196, 1205 (10th Cir. 2008); State v. Combest, 350 P.3d 222, 231–33 (Or. Ct. App.), review denied, 363 P.3d 501 (Or. 2015); State v. Aguilar, 437 S.W.3d 889, 901 (Tenn. Crim. App. 2013); State v. Roberts, 345 P.3d 1226, 1236 (Utah 2015); State v. Peppin, 347 P.3d 906, 908–10 (Wash. Ct. App.), review denied, 360 P.3d 817 (Wash. 2015). The federal circuit courts that have addressed this issue have "uniformly" reached this conclusion. Conner, 521 F. App'x at 498 (collecting cases).

This Court should follow that uniform rule. It has followed other jurisdictions in similar cases. *See*, *e.g.*, *Tentoni*, 365 Wis. 2d 211, ¶¶ 9–10 (following other courts' holding that a person has no reasonable expectation of privacy in a communication that he or she sends). Under this firmly established rule, Baric had no reasonable expectation of privacy in his peer-to-peer file sharing.

C. Baric's contrary arguments have no merit.

Baric argues that Detective Kowaleski acted illegally under Kyllo v. United States, 533 U.S. 27 (2001), because he used software that was not publicly available. (Baric Br. 7– 15.) Kyllo is very different than Baric's case. In Kyllo, law enforcement officers used a thermal imager to scan Kyllo's home to see whether it was emitting a large amount of heat consistent with the use of heat lamps for growing marijuana. Kyllo, 533 U.S. at 29–30. The Supreme Court held that where "the Government uses a device that is not in general public use, to explore details of the home that would previously have been unknowable without intrusion, the surveillance is a 'search' and is presumptively unreasonable without a warrant." Id. at 40. It emphasized that the thermal imager invaded the interior of a home, which is entitled to special protection under the Fourth Amendment. *Id.* at 34, 40.

By contrast, Detective Kowaleski did not look into Baric's home but instead merely saw files that Baric was publicly offering to share in cyberspace. Unlike the officers in *Kyllo*, Detective Kowaleski did not see anything in which Baric had a reasonable expectation of privacy. *Kyllo* thus does not control here. Courts have reached the same conclusion in cases where law enforcement officers used peer-to-peer software to learn that the defendants had child pornography on their computers. *See, e.g., Norman,* 448 F. App'x at 897; *Roberts,* 345 P.3d at 1236; *see also Peppin,* 347 P.3d at 911 (distinguishing a state case with the same holding as *Kyllo*).

Baric also argues that Detective Kowaleski performed an illegal search when he used Child Protection System (CPS) software to look for files with hash values of known child pornography. (Baric Br. 8, 10, 11, 12.) That argument has no merit. CPS software merely sorts through and searches for files that an ordinary user of peer-to-peer software could find and access. United States v. Dodson, 960 F. Supp. 2d 689, 695–96 (W.D. Tex. 2013). And because a person has no reasonable expectation of privacy in files that are publicly available on a file-sharing network, a law enforcement officer does not violate the Fourth Amendment by using software to look for child pornography on such a network. See, e.g., Borowy, 595 F.3d at 1048; Roberts, 345 P.3d at 1236. As already explained, Baric had no reasonable expectation of privacy in the child pornography that he made publicly available for download. Detective Kowaleski thus did not violate Baric's Fourth Amendment rights by searching for child pornography.

Baric further argues that Detective Kowaleski performed an illegal search by using software to determine Baric's geographic location. (Baric Br. 11–12.) Besides being undeveloped, that argument fails on the merits. So-called

"geolocation services" "enable anyone to estimate the location of Internet users based on their IP addresses. Such services cost very little or are even free." *AF Holdings, LLC v. Does 1-1058*, 752 F.3d 990, 996 (D.C. Cir. 2014) (citations omitted). Because any person using the same file-sharing network as Baric could have used his IP address to find his geographic location, Detective Kowaleski's geolocation software did not invade a reasonable expectation of Baric's privacy. Baric has not shown otherwise by a preponderance of the evidence.

To be sure, people "have a legitimate expectation of privacy in the contents of their electronic devices." (Baric Br. 12 (citations omitted).) But Detective Kowaleski did not search Baric's computer. (R. 59:7, 13.) Instead, he viewed child pornography that Baric was offering for download on a file-sharing network. (R. 32:7–9.) Baric did not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in the child pornography after he made it available for download on the Internet.

Baric argues that Detective Kowaleski acted outside of his jurisdiction and exceeded the scope of his deputization to search for child pornography because he was not working with an FBI agent. (Baric Br. 7, 8, 12.) This Court should ignore those arguments because it generally does not consider undeveloped arguments. State v. Pettit, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 646, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992). Besides, those arguments fail on the merits. Even if an officer exceeds his or her jurisdiction, suppression is not required unless the officer obtained evidence "in violation of a constitutional right or in violation of a statute providing suppression as a remedy." State v. Keith, 2003 WI App 47, ¶ 9, 260 Wis. 2d 592, 659 N.W.2d 403 (citation omitted). Baric does not allege a statutory violation. And because Baric had no reasonable expectation of privacy, Detective Kowaleski did not violate the Constitution by viewing the child pornography that

Baric was offering for download. Baric thus is not entitled to suppression, regardless of whether Detective Kowaleski acted outside of his jurisdiction.

In sum, the circuit court correctly ruled that Detective Kowaleski lawfully found the child pornography that Baric was offering to share on the Internet.

II. The special agents lawfully searched Baric's computer devices with his voluntary consent.

A. Controlling legal principles.

A warrantless search is unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment unless an exception to the warrant requirement applies. *State v. Rome*, 2000 WI App 243, ¶ 10, 239 Wis. 2d 491, 620 N.W.2d 225. Consent is one exception. Id. ¶ 11.

To determine if consent justified a search, a court must determine whether a suspect in fact gave consent and, if so, whether the consent was voluntary. *State v. Artic*, 2010 WI 83, ¶ 30, 327 Wis. 2d 392, 786 N.W.2d 430. This Court upholds a circuit court's finding of consent unless it was clearly erroneous. *Id.* ¶¶ 30–31. The State must prove by clear and convincing evidence that consent was voluntary. *Id.* ¶ 32.

A court looks at the totality of the circumstances to determine whether consent was voluntary. *Id.* Courts consider several "non-exclusive factors": "(1) whether the police used deception, trickery, or misrepresentation in their dialogue with the defendant to persuade him to consent"; "(2) whether the police threatened or physically intimidated the defendant or 'punished' him by the deprivation of something like food or sleep"; "(3) whether the conditions attending the request to search were congenial, non-threatening, and cooperative, or the opposite"; "(4) how the

defendant responded to the request to search"; "(5) what characteristics the defendant had as to age, intelligence, education, physical and emotional condition, and prior experience with the police"; and "(6) whether the police informed the defendant that he could refuse consent." *Id.* ¶ 33 (citations omitted).⁴

B. Baric gave voluntary consent to a search of his computer devices.

Under the first step of the analysis, Baric gave consent for the special agents to search his computer devices. The circuit court found that he consented. (R. 58:47, R-App. 202.) This finding is correct because Baric signed a consent form. (R. 47.) He does not argue otherwise.

Under the second step, Baric's consent was voluntary. Turning to the first factor, the special agents did not use deception, trickery, or misrepresentation. The agents identified themselves to Baric and his family and said that they were investigating Internet activity at the family's house. (R. 20:2–4, 7–8, 14, R-App. 101–03, 105, 108.) Moments later, the agents honestly explained that they did many investigations into "children on the Internet and exploitation-type stuff." (R. 20:23, R-App. 113.) Before talking about child pornography, the agents asked Baric whether he wanted to talk in private, and he said yes. (R. 20:25, R-App. 114.) After Baric's sister and brother-in-law left the room, the agents and Baric talked candidly about child pornography. (R. 20:25–34, R-App. 114–18.) Multiple

⁴ This brief and Baric's brief cite to some cases that dealt with whether a defendant's *statements* were voluntary. (Baric Br. 6, 16, 18–19, 27.) To be clear, the issue here is whether Baric's consent to the search was voluntary, not whether his statements to the special agents were voluntary. (See Baric Br. 15–27; see also R. 18; 19; 21.)

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